### STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

08-01-2016

**RECEIVED** 

**CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN** 

No. 2014AP2360

Dennis A. Teague,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner,

Linda Colvin and Curtis Williams,

Intervening Plaintiffs-Appellants-Petitioners,

v.

Brad D. Schimel, Walt Neverman,

Dennis Fortunato, and Brian Keefe,

Defendants-Respondents-Respondents

### ON APPEAL FROM DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT THE HONORABLE JUAN B. COLAS, PRESIDING

#### PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS-PETITIONERS' BRIEF

Jeffery R. Myer State Bar No. 1017339 Sheila Sullivan State Bar No. 1052545 Attorneys for Plaintiffs-**Appellants-Petitioners** 

#### P.O. Address

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

I. Does Wis. Stat. § 19.356 bar a civil action for declaratory and injunctive relief that the "global balancing" central to DOJ's alias name policy violates Wisconsin's public records law?

The circuit court held that DOJ's global balancing was permitted.

(App. 50) <sup>1</sup> It did not decide whether Wis. Stat. § 19.356 bars relief because DOJ did not raise the issue until oral argument in the court of appeals. The court of appeals did not address the global balancing issue because it concluded that Wis. Stat. § 19.356 barred all civil actions, including actions for declaratory or prospective injunctive relief.

II. Does Wis. Stat. § 19.70 require DOJ to correct or supplement the reports it produces in response to background check requests about innocent subjects once those subjects demonstrate they have no criminal history?

The circuit court dismissed this claim on summary judgment, reasoning that the records about the real criminal did not "pertain," within the meaning of Wis. Stats.19.70,<sup>2</sup> when associated in reports with the name and date of birth of innocent persons and that criminal history reports are not "records" because DOJ does not retain copies of individual reports.

The court of appeals lead opinion did not adopt or reject either of the circuit court's grounds. Rather, it concluded Petitioners could obtain no relief under § 19.70 because they did not challenge "any record maintained by DOJ that is susceptible to "correct[ion]." (App 23, ¶41) Judge

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "App" indicates the separate Appellants' Appendix (in two parts) filed with this brief, distinguishing it from Petitioners' Appendix. The Record on Appeal citations have been added to each page of the documents in Appellants' Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> When this litigation began, the statute that is currently numbered § 19.70 was numbered § 19.365. The current numbering is used in this brief.

Higginbotham, with Judge Sherman concurring, deemed Petitioners' Wis. Stat. 19.70 argument insufficiently developed. (App. 35, ¶72)

# III. Does DOJ's alias name policy violate equal protection by discriminating irrationally against one class of innocent persons?

The court of appeals answered "no." (App. 29, ¶59)

# IV. Are innocent persons associated by DOJ with criminal records not their own being deprived of a protected liberty interest without due process of law?

The circuit court answered "no" because it found that the criminal history reports "do not convey a false and defamatory meaning to their intended audience (the public making a records request)." (App. 43) The circuit court also concluded that the reports did not "alter the legal status for any plaintiff or prevented their employment or deprived them of any other right or privilege." (App. 43)

Although the court of appeals appears to have assumed stigma was established, it found no due process violation because Teague, Colvin, and Williams failed to prove the reports made it "virtually impossible" for them to find employment. (App. 33, ¶68)

# V. Does DOJ's alias name policy violate substantive due process by knowingly identifying innocent people with criminal records that are not their own?

The court of appeals declined to address this question on the grounds Teague did not cite "useful legal authority" for this "apparently novel substantive due process" argument. (App. 30, ¶63)

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. NATURE OF THE CASE

Each year, the DOJ runs almost 800,000 criminal background checks on private citizens for non-justice system entities. (R.109, Trial Exh. 95) Some of these reports come back clean, reporting "No Criminal History Found." (App. 189-93) Other reports show a criminal record.

Dennis Teague, Linda Colvin, and Curtis Williams discovered that DOJ was not producing "no criminal history found" reports in response to criminal background checks on their names and with their dates of birth. DOJ does this because it "matches" their name with an alias used at some time by the criminal. In this litigation this matching is referred to as DOJ's alias name policy.

Teague, Colvin, and Williams attempted to correct their reports through DOJ's existing challenge process by submitting fingerprints, and DOJ confirmed that they are, in fact, innocent. (App. 2-3, 42-43, 194-203). Rather than changing the reports, however, DOJ sent them a to whom it may concern "innocence letter" confirming they had no criminal records and that the reports using their names and dates of birth were, in fact, about other people. (App.2-3, 188-197). DOJ continues to send out the same report each time it runs new background check on one of them. DOJ does not include in that report copies of the "innocence letters" nor does it inform requestors that the real Teague, Colvin, and Williams have no criminal records. (App. 6, 44-45).

Petitioners seek declaratory and injunctive relief on two state law and three constitutional claims. On the state law public record claim, they seek a declaration that DOJ's alias policy violates the open records law and an order enjoining DOJ from continuing their practice because under the common law balancing test, the public interest in protecting private reputations outweighs the public interest in attaching criminal records to the names and dates of birth of person known to be innocent. On the second state law claim they seek a declaration that Wis. Stat. §19.70 was triggered when they requested DOJ to correct their reports and an order enjoining DOJ to comply with the law by either correcting the reports or allowing supplementation. On the procedural due process claim, they ask this Court to remand to the circuit court to determine what process is due. On the equal protection and substantive due process claims, DOJ should be enjoined from using its alias name policy to associate individuals who have proved they are innocent with criminal records not their own.

#### B. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Dennis Teague filed a complaint for declaratory and injunctive relief in Dane County on April 29, 2010. (R.2) Colvin and Williams moved to intervene. (App. 2, n.1) Decision on the motion to intervene was deferred pending discovery and dispositive motions. On December 19, 2011, the circuit court denied Teague's summary judgment motion and granted in part and denied in part DOJ's summary judgment motion. (App. 45-64) The decision dismissed all Teague's statutory claims. (App. 57) It also dismissed Teague's Equal Protection challenge. (App. 57) The circuit court denied defendants' motion to dismiss the substantive and procedural Due Process Clause claims, (App. 057), because of a dispute of material fact over what reasonable inferences could be drawn from the undisputed content of the reports. (App. 55-56)

The circuit court granted the deferred motion to intervene. (R.54)
The First Amended Complaint included all of Teague's original claims and intervened Colvin and Williams making exactly the same claims. (R.57)
On March 23, 2012, the circuit court applied the Decision and Order on Motions for Summary Judgment, previously entered December 19, 2011, to the amended complaint. (R. 61)

The trial occurred in early June, 2014. On July 2, 2014, the circuit court entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment dismissing the case. (App. 41-44). Timely Notice of Appeal was filed on September 30, 2014.

After appellate briefing was completed, the court of appeals held oral argument. During oral argument, DOJ claimed for the first time that Wis. Stat. § 19.356 barred the public records claim. The court of appeals allowed both parties to file a five page letter brief with no reply.

On February 11, 2016, the court of appeals issued a decision, with two concurrences. (App. 1-40) Judge Blanchard's lead opinion concluded (1) Wis. Stat.19.356(1) barred litigating whether DOJ's global balancing violated the public records law; (2) Wis. Stat. § 19.70 provided no mechanism for relief for the kind of dispute at issue in this case; (3) DOJ's alias name policy did not violate the Equal Protection Clause; (4) that there was no "clear" error in the trial courts finding that petitioners did not establish the necessary "stigma plus" for the procedural due process claim; and (5) DOJ's alias policy did not violate the substantive component of the Due Process Clause. (App. 20; 25-26; 29-30; 34-35; 30-31)

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The court of appeals decision summarizes most of the relevant facts about the DOJ's criminal history database, the procedure by which fingerprints, master names, and alias names become part of the criminal history database, and the DOJ's alias policy of "matching" the name and date of birth of the person about whom a criminal background check is sought with the database. (App. 3-7)

The court of appeals decision does not, however, clearly state two relevant facts. First, DOJ's methods of "matching" alias names to master names are so imprecise they encourage inaccuracy in the form both of false positives and false negatives. Second, DOJ could easily correct the situation.

DOJ associates Dennis Teague with Anthony Parker's criminal record because, on June 11, 2004, the Milwaukee Police Department submitted a fingerprint card for Anthony Terrel Parker which identified Dennis Antonio Teague as an alias Parker initially used with police. (App. 59-69, Trial Exhibit 40; App. 205, Trial Exh. 49; R.118:119-120)<sup>3</sup> MPD lists Parker's date of birth on the June 11, 2004 submission as April 5, 1981. (App. 205, Trial Exhibit 49) DOJ thus "matches" Parker to Teague, despite the fact that Teague's birth date is October 4, 1982. DOJ then responds to a request for a report on Teague's real name and real date of birth, with Parker's history. (App. 59-69, Trial Exh. 40)

The report of a July 20, 1990 arrest of Kirk Owens, using the alias name "Kirthan Arnell Henderson," with an October 27, 1962 date of birth, lists another alias "Curt NMI Williams." (App. 207-08, Trial Exhibit 50)

6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The trial exhibits are in three folders marked as R.106 in the record on appeal. The trial testimony is from DOJ witness Mary E. Meyer; it appears at pages 119-120 of R.118.

DOJ deems that a "match" to Curtis Williams' name and April 25, 1963 date of birth. Despite the fact that Owens used a birthdate that matched neither on Williams' month, day, or year of birth, DOJ responds to a background check on Williams, with his real date of birth, by producing a 38 page criminal history. (App 123-160, Trial Exhibit 66)

DOJ's imprecise matching also returns false clean reports in response to record requests about actual criminals. A record request for Mary Meyer, date of birth August 17, 1977, produces a seven page criminal history report. (App. 161-167, Trial Exh. 19). A report request with the same name, but a birthdate of August 7, 1977, produces a clean report. (App. 186-87, Trial Exh. 20). A request for Christopher J. Peters, date of birth September 22, 1967, returns a fifteen page report. (App. 168-182, Trial Exh. 22). A request with no middle initial with the **same** date of birth returns a clean report. (App. 185, Trial Exh 22).

The second relevant fact not clear from the court of appeals decision is the ease with which DOJ could produce the records of successful challengers who have proved their innocence. All of the paper records of all of the challenges since DOJ began the challenge process fit in one file drawer 30 feet away from the worker who process background checks. (R.120:113-116)

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### STATE LAW CLAIMS

- I. THE DOJ'S "GLOBAL BALANCING" VIOLATES PUBLIC RECORDS LAW AND PETITIONERS ARE ENTITLED TO DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF ON THAT GROUND.
  - A. DOJ's alias name policy violates the common law balancing test of the open records law.

In the circuit court, DOJ argued the public records common law balancing test permits its alias name policy because it had "globally balanced" the public interests and decided it is always better to release a criminal history even when it knows that there is an innocent victim of identity theft. (R.32:18) Relying on *Newspapers, Inc. v. Breier*, 89 Wis. 2d 417, 440, 279 N.W.2d 179 (1979), the circuit court agreed, concluding case by case balancing was unnecessary because "the nature of these records and the balancing considerations do not vary from case to case." (App. 50). 4

The circuit court decision, like the DOJ policy, ignores the long recognized **public** interest in protecting private reputations when an open records request is made to law enforcement. In *Breier*, the Court applied the common law balancing test to hold that the presumption of openness associated with a daily police "blotter" comprised of dates, names, and arrest charges outweighed the public interest in reputation of the person arrested. The public interest included disclosure as a check on law

8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The court of appeals did not address the merits of the public records argument, finding that Wis. Stat. 19.356 precludes any challenge to the release of another person's criminal record in response to a criminal background check on an innocent person. The court of appeals' disposition of the common law balancing test claim is discussed in the next section of this brief.

enforcement's behavior, either in arresting citizens on questionable charges, or in misuse of prosecutorial discretion. 89 Wis. 2d at 436-437.

While upholding disclosure of blotters, *Breier* explicitly recognized that law enforcement information can be so damaging to private reputations that the common law balance could be struck differently in other contexts. Specifically, *Breier* noted the differences between a daily "blotter," with no identifying information other than a name, and a "rap sheet."

An entirely different issue would be presented to this court if a right of access were claimed to the "rap sheets," the alphabetical records, by the name of the arrested person, which show all arrests of and police contacts with individuals, regardless of whether an arrest or conviction resulted.

#### 89 Wis. 2d at 432.

*Breier* explained that one of the "exceptions to the general rule of openness is when financial, medical, social or personal histories and disciplinary data **which may unduly damage reputations** are to be considered." *Breier*, 89 Wis. 2d at 430 (emphasis added). "Hence we have concluded that there is a **public policy interest** in protecting the reputations of citizens." 89 Wis. 2d at 430 (emphasis added). Wisconsin courts have repeatedly affirmed that public interest in protecting private reputations. *Zellner v. Cedarburg School District*, 2007 WI 53, ¶50, 300 Wis. 2d 290, 731 N.W.2d 2400; *Linzmeyer v. Forcey*, 2002 WI 84, ¶ 31, 254 Wis. 2d 306, 646 N.W.2d 811.

In this case, DOJ is not only disclosing information that damages the private reputations of innocent people, it is doing so without balancing interests in each case for each record released. DOJ rationalizes its policy of disclosure, even when the background check is sought for an innocent person, on the grounds that, in theory, a requester might be being "duped"

by a criminal seeking employment under the alias name. (R.32:19-20). The problem is that neither DOJ nor the circuit court weighed the public interest in the innocent person's reputation against this theoretical possibility.

This Court should declare that the DOJ's "global balancing" does not comport with the common law balancing test. Wisconsin courts have repeatedly held that the common law balancing test is a document by document balancing, not "global" balancing. *Milwaukee Journal Sentinel v. Wisconsin Department of Administration*, 2009 WI 79, ¶ 56, 319 Wis. 2d 439, 768 N.W.2d 700; *Wisconsin Newspress, Inc. v. School District of Sheboygan Falls*, 199 Wis. 2d 768, 780, 546 N.W.2d 143 (1996); *Law Offices of William A. Pangman & Associates v. Stigler*, 161 Wis. 2d 828, 840, 468 N.W.2d 784 (Wis. Ct. App. 1996). *See also, Hempel v. City of Baraboo*, 2005 WI 120, ¶62, 284 Wis. 2d 162, 194, 699 N.W.2d 551. This Court should, in addition, hold that the public interest in protecting the reputations of innocent citizens outweighs the public interest in DOJ's producing the criminal's record, and only the criminal's record, in response to a request for a background check on an innocent person. <sup>5</sup>

# B. Wis. Stat.19.356(1) does not bar Petitioners from seeking Declaratory and Injunctive Relief on their Public Records Claim.

The court of appeals held the final clause of section 1 of Wis. Stat. § 19.356(1) bars all civil litigation challenging the record custodian's release policies unless that litigation is explicitly authorized by § 19.356 or some other statute. (App. 15-16, ¶¶29-32) The court of appeals is wrong.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Court could, alternatively, enjoin DOJ from associating Petitioners' names with criminal records until after the agency balances the interests. But Petitioners believe the balance is, in their cases, clear.

Wisconsin Stat. § 19.356 bars individuals from seeking "judicial review "of authorities' decisions to release certain kinds of records; it does not deprive all litigants of the right to challenge the legality of the release policies to be applied to future requests.

#### 1. Standard of review

The goal of statutory construction is to "ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature." *Lake City Corp. v. City of Mequon*, 207 Wis.2d 155, 162, 558 N.W.2d 100 (1997). Courts give statutory language "its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning, unless the words are technical or specially defined, in which case we will give those words their technical or special definitions." *Brunton v. Nuvell Credit Corp.* 2010 WI 50, ¶ 16, 325 Wis. 2d 135, 785 N.W.2d 302; *see also* Wis. Stat. 990.01 Courts also consider the scope, context and structure of the statute. *State ex rel Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County*, 2004 WI 58, ¶46, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110.

# 2. "Judicial review" is a technical term that refers to one type of litigation, not all litigation.

"Judicial review" has been repeatedly defined as a technical term by Wisconsin courts. It does not mean the equivalent of "all litigation" or "all review by a court." Rather, "judicial review" is a subset of the more general taxonomy of litigation, "actions" and "special proceedings." *See* Wis. Stat. § 801.01. As early as 1977, this Court recognized the legislature's intent to differentiate between judicial review proceedings and regular civil actions. *Wisconsin Environmental Decade v. Public Service Commission*, 79 Wis. 2d 161, 170, 255 N.W.2d 917 (1977); *see also*, *Wisconsin Brewers Baseball Club v. Wisconsin Department of Health and* 

Social Services, 130 Wis. 2d 79, 89, 387 N.W.2d 254 (1986)(distinguishing between judicial review and an action against a state agency for relief under Wis. Stat. Ch. 813),

This Court has continued to make similar distinctions, describing, "judicial review" as a "special proceeding," not a civil action. *See, e.g., State ex rel Town of Delevan v. Circuit Court of Walworth,* 167 Wis. 2d 719, 725, 482 N.W.2d 899 (1999)("We have previously stated that a Ch. 277 judicial review is a special proceeding."). In *Nankin v. Village of Shorewood*, the Court reiterated the distinction between "judicial review" and other litigation and gave that distinction constitutional significance:

The problem with this characterization is that an action under Wis. Stat.74.37(3)(d) is not simply another means of judicial review. Judicial review entails "[a] court's review of a lower court's or an administrative body's factual or legal findings." *Black's Law Dictionary* 852 (7th ed.1999). That is not the case in an action under § 74.37(3)(d). Instead, this statute affords the claimant the right to pursue an action according to state civil practice and procedure, including the right to a trial.

2001 WI 92, ¶ 24, 245 Wis. 2d 86, 630 N.W.2d 141. See also, Metropolitan Associates v. City of Milwaukee, 211 WI 20, ¶ 45, 332 Wis. 2d 85, 796 N.W.2d 717. More recently. this Court has also distinguished between "judicial review" and actions for damages, Harvot v. Solo Cup Co., 2009 WI 85, ¶39, 320 Wis. 2d 1, 768 N.W.2d 176, and between a Chapter 227 judicial review and an action for an injunction. PRN Associates v. Department of Administration, 2009 WI 53, ¶¶ 47-49, 317 Wis. 2d 656, 766 N.W.2d 559.

This long history of distinguishing between judicial review and other forms of civil action identifies "judicial review" as a technical term. It must therefore be construed as a technical term in Wis. Stat. § 19.356

unless there is clear evidence the legislature intended to use the term differently.

Nothing in the statute evidences that intent. Wisconsin Stat. § 19.356(1) states in full

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