RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

06-17-2015
CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS

OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2014AP2360

DENNIS A. TEAGUE,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

LINDA COLVIN AND CURTIS WILLIAMS,

Intervening Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

J. B. VAN HOLLEN, WALT NEVERMAN, DENNIS FORTUNATO AND BRIAN O'KEEFE,

Defendants-Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DANE COUNTY, CASE NO. 10-CV-2306, THE HONORABLE JUAN B. COLAS PRESIDING

RESPONSE BRIEF OF DEFENDANTS-RESPONDENTS

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

ANTHONY D. RUSSOMANNO Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1076050

Attorneys for Defendants-Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

With the criminal history reports, DOJ provides information that may help a member of the public discern if a person has a criminal history. Or the information may not, as the reports state upfront. Teague's arguments boil down to asking for different services that he thinks would be better. But his view is not the only view, and it supports no legal claim.

DOJ's name-based method for members of the public to search for records is cost effective, quick, and easy to use with basic information. The flipside is that the searches come with limits, which are stated. (See R. 106: Ex. 30 at 4-11.) Teague's idea is that every search should require a fingerprint (Teague Br. at 16), but that approach

⁴ As with Teague, neither of the intervening plaintiffs had a criminal history, but persons with their first and last names and the same or similar dates of birth listed did. (R. 109 at 2.)

comes with downsides: additional cost to the requesting public and to the agency; delay based on large volumes of fingerprint information and the loss of the ability for automated responses; concerns with reliability of the print; and the fact that not everyone will have fingerprints available when requesting records. (See R. 119 at 19, 64, 70, 146, 151, 153-54, 199; R. 121 at 128-134, 140-41 (discussing various issues related to fingerprint searches submitted by the general public).)⁵

More to the point, just because Teague disagrees with the balance struck using name-based searches does not make the reports unlawful. DOJ provides information that is often useful and accounts for instances like Teague's where it turns out not to be useful.

I. Disclosure of the reports does not run afoul of the public records law.

Teague argues that DOJ is forbidden from disclosing the criminal history report under the public records law balancing test. Whether the public records law is violated is a question of law, subject to de novo review. *John K. MacIver Inst. for Pub. Policy, Inc. v. Erpenbach*, 2014 WI App 49, ¶ 14, 354 Wis. 2d 61, 848 N.W.2d 862. Teague's application

⁵ There also was testimony that a single fingerprint model is inconsistent with how law enforcement, such as the FBI, collects and references prints, which involves "ten fully rolled prints, four finger pats, two thumb prints to ensure positive identification." (R. 119 at 67.)

of the public records law is flawed—it is the wrong framework and, even if applicable, it is satisfied.

The Wisconsin public records law governs scenarios where a "requester" makes a public "records" request to an "authority," as defined by statute. See Wis. Stat. § 19.32 (defining terms). It is the authority's obligation to timely disclose such records, if they exist, unless a statutory or common law exception applies or, in exceptional cases, where the public interest in nondisclosure outweighs the strong presumption of disclosure. See John K. MacIver Inst., 354 Wis. 2d 61, ¶ 13 (summarizing procedures); Wis. Stat. § 19.35 (access/timing). This framework does not help Teague.

First, there is a mismatch between Teague's complaint and the public records law. Teague does not argue that, as a general matter, criminal histories should not be made public. Rather, he dislikes that a search using his name and birth date yields a report stating Parker's history. He seeks a remedy "[e]njoining [the Bureau] to release records only on a positive fingerprint identification." (Teague Br. at 16.)

In other words, Teague is attempting to apply the public records law to litigate a search process, and not records. However, the public records law governs only the latter. See Wis. Stat. § 19.31 (purpose of law is to provide access to information); Wis. Stat. § 19.35(1)(a) (governing

records).⁶ Likewise, he points to no authority in the public records law for a court enjoining DOJ in the way he requests. Teague's public records claim should be rejected as lacking a starting point.

Second, even if the public records law were properly at issue, Teague's theory would fail. The law starts with a blanket rule: "a strong presumption of complete openness with regard to public records." See John K. MacIver Inst., 354 Wis. 2d 61, ¶ 16 (citation and quotation marks omitted). Access can be denied only "in an exceptional case." Wis. Stat. § 19.31. It is Teague's burden to show that this is the exceptional case because he is "the party seeking nondisclosure." John K. MacIver Inst., 354 Wis. 2d 61, ¶ 14. He does not meet his burden

Teague points to no statutory or common law exception. Rather, Teague asserts that the balancing test forbids disclosure because the reports defame Teague with false information. But his premise is not correct because he points to no falsity. Teague dislikes the fact that the Parker report was produced in response to a request using his name. The report, however, did not falsely state that it was about the real Teague, and it has warnings telling the reader its limits.

⁶ The circuit court did not rule on this basis (or some other bases discussed in this brief), but this Court may affirm on alternative grounds. *Glendenning's Limestone & Ready-Mix Co. v. Reimer*, 2006 WI App 161, ¶ 14, 295 Wis. 2d 556, 721 N.W.2d 704.

Teague says he is nonetheless concerned about others' perception of him, but "the potential for embarrassment is not a basis for precluding disclosure." Milwaukee J. Sentinel v. DOA, 2009 WI 79, ¶ 62, 319 Wis. 2d 439, 768 N.W.2d 700. The correct question is whether important public interests are impacted. See id.; Woznicki v. Erickson, 202 Wis. 2d 178, 188, 549 N.W.2d 699 (1996) (discussing public policy interests). As the public records law recognizes, the general public interest is in access to information. That interest is served by providing access to histories that come with instructions and warnings that state the information's uses and limits. Teague cannot seriously dispute that the public may benefit from information that, in many instances, will be a useful step in learning whether someone has a criminal history. Such information may protect the requester's safety, or may serve other publically-important purposes: for example, when it comes to jobs or activities involving children or sensitive information, or in the case of violent felonies.

Further, Teague's personal concerns have not been ignored. Not only are there explanations in the reports themselves, but also Teague may preemptively supply the letter provided by DOJ that establishes that he has no Wisconsin criminal history.

Teague argues that DOJ should conduct a formal balancing test for each criminal history report. But he misses the point of the case-by-case balancing test analysis.

When an authority is not disclosing a record, it is important to specifically explain why documents overcome the presumption of disclosure: "In determining whether a public policy exists to overcome the presumption of openness, we apply a balancing test on a case-by-case basis" Linzmeyer v. Forcey, 2002 WI 84, ¶ 25, 254 Wis. 2d 306, 646 N.W.2d 811; see also John K. MacIver Inst., 354 Wis. 2d 61, ¶ 14 (stating that a court should apply the balancing test "when the record custodian has refused to produce the record, in order to evaluate the merits of the custodian's decision" (citation omitted)). But, here, DOJ is conforming to the presumption of openness.

In any event, even if DOJ bore a burden to justify disclosure, the burden would be met. A balancing analysis can be applied to the reports without separately analyzing each because they all have the same relevant characteristics: they state disclaimers, provide criminal history information about an identified person, and include information like aliases. That information may be used to make inquiries to learn if the actual person has the relevant history. Where such inquiries might lead does not change the information make the initial reasons to available. Analyzing this collectively or individually, the result is the same.

II. The criminal history report does not violate Wis. Stat. § 19.70.

Teague seeks to apply another inapt framework, found in Wis. Stat. § 19.70. He asserts that this statute requires DOJ to "correct" the reports that issue when his name and birth date are searched. This argument should be rejected as contrary to the plain language of the statute.

Wisconsin Stat. § 19.70(1) provides in relevant part:

an individual . . . may challenge the accuracy of a record containing personally identifiable information pertaining to the individual that is maintained by an authority if . . . the individual notifies the authority, in writing, of the challenge. After receiving the notice, the authority shall do one of the following:

- (a) Concur with the challenge and correct the information.
 - (b) Deny the challenge

As the circuit court correctly concluded, this framework, on its face, is inapplicable. See State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Ct. for Dane Cnty., 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 (courts apply statutes as plainly written).

The statute covers "the accuracy of a record containing personally identifiable information pertaining to the individual." But Teague points to no record containing inaccurate information about him. Rather, he dislikes that an accurate report about Parker was produced when someone requested a search using Teague's name and birth date. He does not challenge that Parker used Teague as an alias, or that anything else stated about Parker is incorrect.

Thus, the triggering language does not apply for two reasons: (1) there is no existing "record" in possession of DOJ that might be correctable because reports are generated based on input from particular requests, and (2) there is no criminal history record "pertaining to" Teague; there are only histories about other people, including Anthony Terrell Parker. In fact, Teague concedes that "[t]he fact that Teague's name is in a [Bureau] alias table is not what makes Parker's information 'pertain to' Teague." (Teague Br. at 19.) There also is a third reason that Teague's argument fails, related to remedies. The only available statutory remedy is: the information." Wis. Stat. 19.70(1)(a). But Teague is not asking that information held by DOJ—a criminal history of Parker—be corrected, and he does not allege that Parker's history is incorrect.

Teague cites no support for any other interpretation. Rather, he cites two attorney general opinions, but then does not discuss them. It suffices to observe that those opinions are not about the statute or scenario here. In fact, if anything, their reasoning cuts against Teague. See OAG-07-14 (Oct. 15, 2014), 2014 WL 8470382, at *2 (discussing Wis. Stat. § 19.356, and opining that just mentioning a public official's name does not mean a record to" contains "information relating that person); OAG-1-06 (Aug. 3, 2006), 2006 WL 4737914, at *3 (also discussing Wis. Stat. § 19.356, and opining that "the mere fact that the record contains personally identifiable

information about an individual, for example, the individual's name, does not mean that individual is entitled to be notified that the record is proposed to be released").

Teague seems to think that the general definition of "personally identifiable information" is important, but it does not add anything here:

(5) "Personally identifiable information" means information that can be associated with a particular individual through one or more identifiers or other information or circumstances.

Wis. Stat. § 19.62(5). Teague seems to think that this definition is helpful to him because it refers to information that "can be associated" with a person. (Teague Br. at 18.) However, the definition, standing alone, is not the provision at issue. The provision that matters, Wis. Stat. § 19.70(1), addresses only personally identifiable information "pertaining to the individual." And, as Teague concedes, there is nothing in the Parker report that pertains to him.

At bottom, what Teague seems to have in mind is that Wis. Stat. § 19.70(1) should apply to potential assumptions by third parties, even though the assumptions are disclaimed in the report. Teague's goal cannot be squared with the statute. Hypothetical assumptions are not "a record containing personally identifiable information pertaining to the individual."

III. Teague does not show an equal protection violation.

Teague argues that DOJ's handling of criminal history requests violates equal protection principles. (Teague Br. at 22.) He concedes, however, that rational basis review applies. (Teague Br. at 22.) His equal protection theory fails for multiple reasons.

A. Teague's assertions about policy promulgation are misplaced.

Teague begins his equal protection argument by discussing agency policy promulgation. (Teague Br. at 22-23.) It is not clear what he has in mind, but it is neither preserved nor on point. It is not preserved because he did not raise promulgation at summary judgment when his equal protection claim was decided. (R. 22 at 26-32; R. 44 at 23-28; R. 52 at 8-10.) See In re Guardianship of Willa L., 2011 WI App 160, ¶¶ 21-27, 338 Wis. 2d 114, 808 N.W.2d 155 (arguments raised for the first time on appeal are subject to forfeiture).

It is not on point because there is no claim in this case about policy promulgation. Teague cites cases about overturning administrative decisions that turn on an unpromulgated policy, but this case is not a judicial review of an administrative decision. See, e.g., Wis. Tel. Co. v. Dep't of Indus., Labor & Human Relations, 68 Wis. 2d 345, 362-64, 228 N.W.2d 649 (1975) (reversing an agency decision because, among other flaws, it was based on sex

discrimination guidelines that were not promulgated according to sec. 227.023). In any event, Teague does not support the idea that DOJ needs to promulgate how it carries out searches technologically.

B. Disclosure of the criminal history reports does not violate equal protection principles.

Aside from his promulgation argument, Teague's equal protection argument fails for several reasons.

Teague's argument is based on his view that DOJ practices—improperly create two classes of people:

- 1) People with no criminal history whose name has not been used by someone with a history.
- 2) People with no criminal history whose name has been used by someone with a history.

Teague thinks there is no reason to issue reports in the latter case and that therefore it violates equal protection. This line of argument fails for several reasons.

The Equal Protection Clause "ensures that people will not be discriminated against with regard to 'statutory classifications and other governmental activity." Thorp v. Town of Lebanon, 2000 WI 60, ¶ 37, 235 Wis. 2d 610, 612 N.W.2d 59 (citing a U.S. Supreme Court case). It is "designed to assure that those who are similarly situated will be treated similarly." State v. Smith,

⁷ As with all of his constitutional claims, Teague does not distinguish between Wisconsin's Constitution and the U.S. Constitution.

2010 WI 16, ¶ 15, 323 Wis. 2d 377, 780 N.W.2d 90 (citation and quotation marks omitted).

Generally, such challenges are subject to either strict scrutiny or rational basis review. See Thorp, 235 Wis. 2d 610, ¶ 37. Teague concedes it is the latter here.

That means the classifications are upheld unless they bear no rational relationship to serving "a legitimate government interest." Aicher ex rel. LaBarge v. Wis. Patients Comp. Fund, 2000 WI 98, ¶ 57, 237 Wis. 2d 99, 613 N.W.2d 849 (citation omitted). Under rational basis, "perfection ʻis neither possible nor necessary." Id. This recognizes "that classifications often are imperfect and can produce inequities." *Id*. Such classifications are nonetheless upheld if they conceivably advance governmental objective, even if the court must construct that rationale. Id.

A basic problem with Teague's argument is that no governmental actor or law is doing something that causes the alleged class-based harm to him. See Thorp, 235 Wis. 2d 610, ¶ 37 (equal protection is applicable to governmental acts). DOJ does not classify him: the criminal history reports do not require Teague to do anything, and they do not purport to state a truth about Teague. DOJ, rather, provides potentially useful information in response to requests from others. Teague's fear is that someone else will ignore the disclaimers and instructions,

but the act of ignoring disclaimers is not state action.⁸ His claim thus lacks basic development.

Further, even if applicable here, Teague does not show that the Equal Protection Clause is violated.

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